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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

www.flsb.uscourts.gov 

 

In re:       Chapter 11 

 

GOLIATH VENTURES INC. (FL),   Case No. 26-13174-RAM  

GOLIATH VENTURES INC. (WY),   Case No. 26-13176-RAM 

       Jointly Administered  

Debtors.     

_______________________________/ 

 

RECEIVER’S MOTION (1) TO EXCUSE COMPLIANCE WITH 11 U.S.C. § 543 OR IN 

THE ALTERNATIVE (2) TO APPOINT A TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. § 1104 

 

 Michael S. Budwick, in his capacity as receiver (“Receiver”) of Goliath Ventures Inc., a 

Wyoming corporation (“Goliath WY”), and Goliath Ventures Inc., a Florida corporation f/d/b/a 

Gen-Z Venture Firm, Inc. (“Goliath FL”) (together, “Debtors”), seeks an Order from this Court 

excusing his compliance with certain requirements set forth in 11 U.S.C. § 543 or in the 

alternative directing the appointment of a trustee pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1104(a). In support, the 

Receiver states as follows:  

I. JURISDICTION  

1. This matter is a “core proceeding” as that term is used in 28 U.S.C. §157(b)(2).  

2. This Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1334 and 157. 

II. BACKGROUND  

a. The Circuit Court litigation and the appointment of the Receiver 

3. On February 25, 2026, Mehal Patel filed a complaint commencing an action in the 

Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida (“Circuit 

Court”), styled Mehal Patel v. Goliath Ventures, Inc., Case No. CACE-26-003310 

(“Receivership Action”). 

4. On February 27, 2026, the Plaintiff, along with and/or supported by proposed 
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intervenors TwentyWon Ventures, LLC, Gregory Garrett Wilson, and John D. Euliano, as 

Trustee of the John D. Euliano Revocable Trust UTD 5-27-14, and Brevard Nursing Academy, 

LLC d/b/a Coastal Technical Institute (collectively, “Proposed Intervenors”), filed the 

Emergency Verified Ex Parte Motion to Appoint Receiver (“Motion to Appoint Receiver”). 

5. On or about March 1, 2026, Proposed Intervenors filed their Combined Motion to 

Intervene and Notice of Joinder in Plaintiff’s Motion to Appoint Receiver. 

6. Thereafter, the Circuit Court entered its (1) Amended Order on Plaintiff’s 

Emergency Verified Ex Parte Motion to Appoint a Receiver dated March 3, 2026 (“Amended 

Order”) and (2) Agreed Order Granting the Receiver’s Agreed Motion to Confirm that the 

Receivership Estate Includes Goliath Ventures Inc., a Florida Corporation (f/k/a Gen-Z Venture 

Firm Inc.) dated March 5, 2026 (together, “Receivership Orders”). Copies of the Receivership 

Orders are attached as Composite Exhibit 1. 

7. On March 3, 2026, the Receiver filed his Notice of Acceptance and Oath of 

Receiver in the Receivership Action. 

b. The Receivership Orders vested the Receiver with sweeping authority 

8. The Receivership Orders vested the Receiver with complete corporate control 

over the Debtors and their property, subject of course to the supervision of the Circuit Court. 

9. The Receiver’s overarching mandate is to serve as an independent fiduciary to 

protect the interests of all of the Debtors’ creditors, who largely appear to be crime victims. 

10. The Debtors’ prior senior-insider, Christopher Alexander Delgado (“Mr. 

Delgado”) (along with every other officer, director, manager, employee, agent or representative), 

was completely divested of any decision-making authority on behalf of the Debtors, with all such 
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authority being vested exclusively with the Receiver.1 

11. The Receiver was delegated all powers previously held in any capacity by Mr. 

Delgado or any other persons.2 These expansive powers included the authority to file bankruptcy 

petitions for the Debtors, which the Receiver did for the reasons set forth in the Case 

Management Summary at Dkt. No. 11.3 

12. Similarly, the Receivership Orders vested the Receiver with authority to take 

immediate possession, custody, and control of the Debtors and all property wherever located.4 

The Receivership Orders authorized the Receiver to, among other things: (i) identify, secure, 

preserve, investigate, recover, and administer the Debtors’ property; (ii) demand turnover; (iii) 

prosecute, defend, and settle claims on the Debtors’ behalf; and (iv) retain professionals.5 

c. Goliath, its corporate history, and Mr. Delgado 

13. On February 15, 2019, Gen-Z Venture Firm Inc. (“Gen-Z”) was incorporated as a 

Florida for profit corporation. On September 13, 2021, Gen-Z changed its name to Goliath 

Ventures Inc. On September 3, 2025: (i) Goliath FL was voluntarily dissolved; and (ii) Goliath 

WY was incorporated in Wyoming as a for profit corporation.   

14. On February 20, 2026, the United States of America filed a Criminal Complaint 

(“Criminal Complaint”) against Mr. Delgado, in U.S.A. v. Delgado, Case No. 6:26-mj-01240-

LHP (M.D. Fla.) (“Criminal Action”), at ¶ 23:  

According to information provided to potential investors, 

including marketing materials and GOLIATH's website, 

GOLIATH is “a joint venture private fund that invested in 

blockchain and cryptocurrency projects.” GOLIATH further 

characterized itself as “a pioneering firm specializing in 

 
1 See Amended Order, ¶ 25. 
2 See Amended Order, ¶ 26(b). 
3 See Amended Order, ¶ 26(k). 
4 See Amended Order, ¶ 25. 
5 See Amended Order, ¶ 25. 
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blockchain development and decentralized finance strategies” and 

purported to leverage “liquidity pools to facilitate passive income 

generation, enhance market efficiency, and provide qualified 

investors with access to innovative financial opportunities.” 

15. In the Criminal Action, the United States alleges Mr. Delgado violated 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1343, Wire Fraud, and 18 U.S.C. § 1957, Money Laundering, and perpetrated a Ponzi scheme 

through the Debtors. A copy of Criminal Complaint is attached as Exhibit 2.  

d. The Receiver’s background and activities following his appointment 

16. Immediately upon his appointment, the Receiver began taking steps to secure and 

investigate the Debtors’ assets, records, and operations. 

17. The Receiver retained professionals to assist with these efforts, including Meland 

Budwick, P.A. as counsel and a computer forensic expert.  

18. Meland Budwick, P.A. is a Miami-based boutique bankruptcy, financial fraud, 

and litigation law firm6 with extensive experience representing bankruptcy trustees, receivers, 

and other court-appointed fiduciaries in complex financial fraud, asset-recovery, and Ponzi 

scheme litigation. 

19. For example, in the Petters Company, Inc. Chapter 11 case pending in 

Minneapolis, Minnesota, involving the third largest Ponzi scheme in U.S. history with $2 billion 

in cash-on-cash investor losses, the firm serves as litigation oversight counsel managing 

hundreds of millions of dollars in litigation claims. The firm also represents Barry Mukamal, as 

Liquidating Trustee for two Palm Beach based hedge funds that lost $650 million in the Petters 

Ponzi scheme. Together with Mr. Mukamal, the firm has recovered $235 million for the two 

hedge funds’ stakeholders. As a second example, the firm serves as special litigation counsel to 

Christina Lovato, as Chapter 7 Trustee in Reno, Nevada for DC Solar Solutions, Inc. and 

 
6 The firm also practices in the real estate and corporate arenas, among others.  
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affiliated entities through which Jeff Carpoff perpetrated a $950 million Ponzi scheme. Mr. 

Carpoff’s Ponzi scheme is the largest in the history of the Eastern District of California. To date, 

the firm has recovered over $130 million for creditors (with at least two actions remaining) while 

working with creditors who separately have also recovered significant amounts through their 

independent actions. 

20. Moreover, multiple partners of the firm have served as court appointed 

fiduciaries. For example, the U.S. District Court appointed Mr. Budwick as receiver for Thomas 

Abrams who perpetrated a Ponzi scheme in Palm Beach County. The Miami-Dade County 

Circuit Court appointed Mark Meland as receiver for Innovida Holdings, LLC, through which 

Claudio Osorio defrauded ten investors of approximately $40 million.7 

21. Since his appointment, the Receiver and his professionals have undertaken a 

range of activities in furtherance of their role, including efforts to: (i) secure and safeguard the 

Debtors’ assets, property, and records; (ii) identify and investigate the Debtors’ operations; (iii) 

communicate with federal criminal and civil law enforcement; (iv) obtain documents and 

information from, among others, accountants, attorneys, and other professionals associated with 

the Debtors; (v) gather information from potential victims, their professionals, and other third 

parties; (vi) investigate potential transfers of assets and identify potential recovery sources; and 

(vii) obtain documents, records, and other information relevant to the Debtors.  

22. The Receiver’s efforts are ongoing.  

  

 
7 See Receiver’s Emergency Motion (1) to Excuse Compliance with 11 U.S.C. § 543 and (2) to 

Appoint Trustee Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1104, In re InnoVida Holdings, LLC, No. 11-17702-

LMI, Dkt. No. 10 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. Mar. 25, 2011); Order Directing Appointment of Chapter 11 

Trustee, In re InnoVida Holdings, LLC, No. 11-17702-RAM, Dkt. No. 39 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. Mar. 

30, 2011); Order Granting Receiver’s Emergency Motion (1) to Excuse Compliance with 11 

U.S.C. § 543 and (2) to Appoint Trustee Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1104, In re InnoVida Holdings, 

LLC, No. 11-17702-RAM, Dkt. No. 46 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. Apr. 4, 2011). 
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III. ARGUMENT 

a. The Court should excuse compliance with § 543(a) & (b)  

 

23. The Receiver is a “custodian” within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Code. See 11 

U.S.C. § 101(11).  

24. 11 U.S.C. § 543(a) provides that a custodian with knowledge of the 

commencement of a bankruptcy case may not make disbursements from, or take action in the 

administration of, property of the debtor or property of the estate, except as is necessary to 

preserve such property. Section 543(b) further requires the custodian to deliver property of the 

debtor to the trustee and file an accounting of property in the custodian’s possession, custody, or 

control.  

25. However, § 543(d)(1) authorizes the Court, after notice and a hearing, to excuse 

compliance with § 543(a) and (b) if the interests of creditors would be better served by allowing 

the custodian to remain in possession, custody, or control.  

26. The Receiver was appointed in an emergency Broward County Circuit Court 

proceeding because independent and responsible fiduciary control was necessary to protect the 

Debtors, their assets, and their books and records. See Amended Order, ¶¶ 17, 18. The 

Receivership Orders displaced all insider control and vested that authority exclusively in the 

Receiver. See Amended Order, ¶ 24.  

27. Since his appointment, the Receiver and his professionals have investigated the 

Debtors’ affairs, secured and ensured the safekeeping of records and information, communicated 

with governmental authorities and third parties, and have taken steps to identify and preserve 

assets belonging to the estate. For example, the Receiver has obtained documents and 

information from certain of the Debtors’ pre-receivership professionals and other parties and has 
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requested additional documents and information from other of the Debtors’ pre-receivership 

professionals and third parties.  

28. Prior to the receivership, the U.S.A. took possession of the Debtors’ books and 

records, and the Receiver has confirmed with the United States that those items are being 

safekept. However, as of yet, the U.S.A. has not agreed to share a duplicate set. Nevertheless, the 

Receiver continues to obtain information from third parties to identify estate property and 

evaluate potential recovery opportunities. While the Receiver continues to engage in good faith 

with the U.S.A. (including this morning), if an agreement is not reached as to their records then 

the Receiver intends to seek turnover. In the meantime, the Receiver is in the process of issuing 

Rule 2004 document discovery to a number of third parties, including the Debtors’ pre-petition 

depository institutions. 

29. The United States has also seized the Debtors’ bank accounts although the amount 

taken has not been confirmed, as well as several luxury motor vehicles. 

30. Mr. Delgado has been released pending further proceedings, subject to significant 

conditions, including pretrial supervision, home detention with GPS monitoring, travel 

restrictions, surrender of his passport, a $1 million appearance bond, and restrictions on contact 

with victims, witnesses, and former directors and investors. See Criminal Action, Order Setting 

Conditions of Release, Dkt. No. 13. Mr. Delgado appears to be cooperating with law 

enforcement. The Order Setting Conditions of Release reflects that he agreed to repatriate certain 

funds from accounts in Dubai and to turn over certain funds, jewelry, vehicles, and other tangible 

assets. See id. at pg. 5. The U.S.A. subsequently represented that Mr. Delgado agreed to 

surrender specified vehicles, watches, jewelry, and other assets. See Criminal Action, Dkt. No. 

22, at pgs. 1–7. The court thereafter modified the conditions of release by requiring Mr. Delgado, 

within seventy-five days, to deposit funds from his Emirates NBD High Interest Yield Account 
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into the court registry and prohibiting any sale or transfer of identified tangible personal 

property. See Criminal Action, Dkt. No. 25, at pgs. 2-5. 

31. The U.S.A. has assured the Receiver that it has performed a fulsome investigation 

into the Debtors’ crypto and digital assets with the assistance of qualified experts and has 

secured or is in the process of securing those assets. While the Receiver has not obtained an 

accounting or the specific details of the U.S.A. efforts, the U.S.A.’s assurance of its focus and 

capabilities, together with the Receiver’s interest in avoiding duplication of efforts and 

interference with law enforcement, has satisfied the Receiver at this time.  

32. While Mr. Delgado has not (yet) entered into a plea agreement in the Criminal 

Action, given the allegations in the Criminal Complaint coupled with his consensual turnover of 

substantial personal assets, presumably he recognizes he faces a significant prison sentence and 

undoubtedly he should not be entrusted to manage the estate and its recovery efforts. 

33. Under these circumstances, the Receiver submits that creditors are better served 

by allowing the Receiver to remain in possession, custody, and control of the Debtors and estate 

property. The Receiver is already an independent fiduciary administering the estate, is well 

qualified to maximize the recovery to creditors (many of whom appear to be crime victims), he 

and his professionals are already familiar with the Debtors and their operations and records, and 

he is and has been working on asset-recovery efforts. The Receiver expects that the primary 

source of recovery for creditors will be derived from the investigation and prosecution of 

litigation claims. The Receiver is well-suited to perform this function given his extensive 

experience and track record in large Ponzi scheme cases. 

34. Excusing compliance with § 543 will preserve continuity in the administration of 

the estate and allow those efforts to continue without interruption under this Court’s supervision. 

By contrast, requiring compliance with § 543 at this stage would provide no meaningful benefit 
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to creditors and would risk disrupting the ongoing investigation and recovery efforts presently 

underway. 

35. The Receiver understands that the Office of the U.S. Trustee has already taken 

steps to form an official committee of unsecured creditors. As a bankruptcy professional whose 

practice largely focuses on complex financial fraud cases, the Receiver along with his team are 

well experienced in working together with official committees to maximize recoveries for 

victims. 

36. Accordingly, the Court should excuse compliance with § 543(a) and (b), and 

authorize the Receiver to remain in possession, custody, and control of the Debtors and estate 

property unless and until this Court orders otherwise. 

b. In the alternative, a trustee should be appointed under § 1104(a)(1) and (2) 

37. Section 1104(a)(1) provides that the Court shall appoint a trustee for cause, 

including fraud, dishonesty, incompetence, or gross mismanagement of the affairs of the debtor, 

either before or after the commencement of the case. Section 1104(a)(2) further provides that the 

Court shall appoint a trustee if doing so is in the interests of creditors, equity security holders, 

and other interests of the estate.  

38. In the event the Court excuses compliance with § 543(a) and (b), then cause under 

§ 1104(a)(1) would not exist as the Receiver is capable of managing the affairs of the estate 

including the recovery efforts. 

39. However, if for any reason the Court does not excuse compliance, then cause 

would exist under § 1104(a)(1) in which case the Court should then direct the appointment of a 

chapter 11 trustee. 

40. As described above, the United States alleges in the Criminal Action that Mr. 

Delgado operated a Ponzi scheme through the Debtors. Allegations that a debtor was used to 
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perpetrate a Ponzi scheme constitute fraud and dishonesty within the meaning of § 1104(a)(1) 

and support the appointment of a trustee.8  

41. In addition, prior to the bankruptcy filing, the Circuit Court in the Receivership 

Action determined that the appointment of a receiver was necessary to protect the Debtors and 

their assets. The Receivership Orders displaced insider control and vested authority over the 

Debtors in the Receiver. Under these circumstances, there is no doubt that prior management 

cannot fulfill the fiduciary duties required of a debtor in possession.9 

42. Absent excusing compliance, appointment of a trustee would also be warranted 

under § 1104(a)(2) as it would then be in the best interests of the Debtors’ creditors, the estate, 

and other interested parties. Many of the Debtors’ creditors appear to be crime victims, and their 

interests are best served by administration of the estate by an independent fiduciary who will 

investigate the Debtors’ affairs and pursue potential recovery actions for the benefit of creditors.   

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

  

 
8 See In re World Vision Entm't, Inc., 275 B.R. 641, 656 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2002) (“A Ponzi 

scheme is by definition fraudulent.”). 
9 See In re V. Savano Oil & Heating Co., Inc., 99 B.R. 518, 526 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 1989) (“The 

willingness of Congress to leave a debtor-in-possession is premised on an expectation that 

current management can be depended upon to carry out the fiduciary responsibilities of a 

trustee.”). 
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WHEREFORE, the Receiver requests this Court enter an Order: (1) excusing his 

compliance with § 543(a) and (b); or in the alternative (2) directing the appointment of a trustee 

pursuant to § 1104(a); and (3) providing for any other relief this Court deems just and proper.  

 Dated: March 19, 2026.    /s/ Solomon B. Genet   

Solomon B. Genet, Esquire 

Florida Bar No. 617911 

sgenet@melandbudwick.com 

Alexander E. Brody, Esquire 

Florida Bar No. 1025332 

abrody@melandbudwick.com  

MELAND BUDWICK, P.A. 

3200 Southeast Financial Center 

200 South Biscayne Boulevard 

Miami, Florida 33131 

Telephone: (305) 358-6363 

Telecopy: (305) 358-1221 

 

Attorneys for the Receiver and 

Proposed Attorneys for Debtors 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO. CACE26003310   DIVISION: 13    JUDGE: Robinson, Michael A (13)

Mehal Patel

Plaintiff(s) / Petitioner(s)

v.

Goliath Ventures, Inc.

Defendant(s) / Respondent(s)

____________________________/

AGREED ORDER

THIS CAUSE came before the Court upon the Receiver’s Agreed Motion to Confirm 

Receivership Estate Includes Goliath Ventures Inc., a Florida Corporation (f/k/a Gen-Z Venture Firm 

Inc.) (“Motion”) or otherwise to extend the estate. The Court considered the Motion and the record, and 

has been advised that the Plaintiff and parties that have intervened consent to the requested relief. 

Accordingly, it is

ORDERED as follows:

1. The Motion is GRANTED. 

2. The scope of the receivership in this case includes Goliath Ventures Inc., a Florida 

corporation formerly known as Gen-Z Venture Firm Inc. (“Florida Predecessor”).

3. Michael Budwick, Esq. is the Receiver for the Florida Predecessor.

4. The Amended Order on Plaintiff’s Emergency Verified Ex Parte Motion to Appoint a 

Receiver entered March 3, 2026 shall apply with equal force and effect to the Florida Predecessor. The 

terms and provisions of that Order are incorporated herein by reference. 

Page 1 of 2
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Case Number: CACE26003310

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Broward County, Florida on 5th day of March, 2026.

  
CACE26003310 03-05-2026 12:15 PM
Hon. Michael Robinson
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Electronically Signed by Michael Robinson

Copies Furnished To:

Gabriel Enrique Morales , E-mail : avazquez@shawlewenz.com

Gabriel Enrique Morales , E-mail : gmorales@shawlewenz.com

Gabriel Enrique Morales , E-mail : lgrealy@shawlewenz.com

Jeffrey Sonn , E-mail : jsonn@sonnlaw.com

Jeffrey Sonn , E-mail : service@sonnlaw.com

Jordan Alexander Shaw , E-mail : jshaw@shawlewenz.com

Jordan Alexander Shaw , E-mail : kackerman@shawlewenz.com

Solomon B. Genet , E-mail : ltannenbaum@ecf.courtdrive.com

Solomon B. Genet , E-mail : gvallejo@melandbudwick.com

Solomon B. Genet , E-mail : sgenet@melandbudwick.com

Page 2 of 2
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AO 91 (Rev. 11/11) Criminal Complaint 

UNITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT 

United States of America 
V. 

for the 

M iddle District of Florida 

Case No. Christopher Alexander Delgado 
6:26-mj- 1240 

Defendalll(s) 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

On or about the date(s) of February 1, 2024 in the county of Orange 

Middle District of Florida , the defendant(s) violated: 

Code Section 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 
18 U.S.C. § 1957 

Wire Fraud 
Money Laundering 

This criminal complaint is based on these facts: 

See attached affidavit 

0 Continued on the attached sheet. 

Offense Description 

Compfainam 's signawre 

in the 

Special Agent, IRS-Cl 
Primed name and 1iJ/e 

Sworn to before me over the telephone or other reliable electronic means and signed by me 
pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1 and 4(d). 

Date: '2, \ 2 0 ) 2.,CJ? 

City and state: Orlando, Florida HON. LESLIE HOFFMAN PRICE 
Printed name and tiJ/e 

EXHIBIT 2
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

CASE NO. 6:26-ntj-1240 

AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, being duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACKGROUND 

1. I submit this affidavit in support of a criminal complaint 

against Christopher Alexander DELGADO for one count of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1343 (wire fraud) and one count of 18 U.S.C. § 1957 (money laundering). 

2. I am a Special Agent of the Internal Revenue Service, Criminal 

Investigation (IRS-Cl), and have been so employed since 2021. My official duties as 

a Special Agent with IRS-CI include conducting complex financial investigations of 

individuals and businesses for violations of federal law, including tax-related 

financial crimes, money laundering, and bank and wire fraud. Prior to my 

employment with IRS-CI, I was a Special Agent with the United States Secret 

Service. I hold a Bachelor of Science Degree in Finance from the University of 

Central Florida. 

3. The facts set forth in this affidavit are based on my own personal 

lmowledge, lmowledge obtained from law enforcement officers, reviews of 

documents related to this investigation, communications with others who have 

personal knowledge of the events and circumstances described herein, and 
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information gained through my training and experience and the training and 

experience of others. 

4. Because I am submitting this affidavit for the limited purpose of 

securing a criminal complaint, I have not included every fact that I know about 

this investigation, nor have I included every fact I know about the full scope of 

the scheme. Instead, I have set forth only those facts that I believe are necessary 

to establish probable cause that DELGADO has violated 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 

18 u.s.c. § 1957. 

SUMMARY 

5. As set forth in more detail below, DELGADO operated 

GOLIATH as a Ponzi scheme whereby victims were solicited to invest1 

substantial sums of money under false and fraudulent promises of monthly 

returns, which were sometimes presented as guaranteed or low risk, generated 

through cryptocurrency "liquidity pools." Victims were induced to give money 

to GOLIA TH through personal referrals, professional marketing materials, 

luxury events, charitable sponsorships, and some monthly payments of 

purported returns, all of which were designed to establish GOLIATH's bona 

1 GOLIATH's Joint Venture Agreement contained a provision that stated "[t]he Parties 
acknowledge and agree that this Agreement, and the Joint Venture and activities 
contemplated hereunder, are not an investment product, investment offering, investment 
advice, or a security in any way whatsoever." Regardless, many of the victims understood 
the money they sent to GOLIA TH to be for investment purposes because they expected to 
receive returns on the money based on GOLIA TH's marketing materials and their 
contracts. 

2 
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fides with investors. Because of these false and fraudulent representations, 

DELGADO and his co-conspirators obtained at least $328 million from victim 

investors. 

6. Although DELGADO and his co-conspirators represented that 

GOLIA TH would place the funds it obtained from victim investors in 

cryptocurrency liquidity pools, in reality, investor funds were primarily used to 

pay purported returns to earlier investors, to return principal to investors who 

requested it, and for DELGADO's personal expenditures. Investigation showed 

that the vast majority of funds were not invested into liquidity pools. 2 

7. Examples of personal expenditures that DELGADO made using 

victim funds include: 

a. the purchase of the real property in Winter Park, Florida, in July 2025 

for approximately $3 .2 million; 

b. the purchase of the real property in Kissimmee, Florida, in December 

2024 for approximately $1.15 million; 

c. the purchase of the real property in Windermere, Florida, in September 

2025 for approximately $8.5 million; and 

d. the purchase of the real property in Sanford, Florida, in August 2024 for 

approximately $1.65 million. 

2 Blockchain analysis showed that approximately $1.5 million was sent to Uniswap, a 
decentralized exchange. 

3 
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8. DELGADO and his co-conspirators took various steps to hide the 

fraudulent scheme from the investors and to maintain their trust, including: (1) 

providing investors fabricated statements related to their investment that 

purported to show returns when there were none, (2) providing investors with 

bogus explanations for delayed payments and redemptions, and (3) allowing 

some investors to collect more money from GOLIA TH than they initially 

invested, which allowed GOLIATH to continue operating because investors did 

not realize their returns were paid from other investors' money. 

9. Beginning in late 2025, when investors attempted to withdraw their 

principal or purported returns, GOLIA TH delayed payments, provided shifting 

explanations, and ultimately restricted or terminated investor access to 

purported information about their investments. 

RELEVANT TERMS 

10. A "Ponzi scheme" is a form of investment fraud that involves the 

payment of purported returns to existing investors from funds contributed by 

new investors. Ponzi scheme organizers often solicit new investors by promising 

to invest funds in opportunities claimed to generate high returns with little or no 

risk. Rather than engaging in any legitimate investment activity, the fraudulent 

actors focus on attracting new money to make promised payments to earlier 

investors as well as to divert "invested" funds for personal use. 

11. "Fiat currency" is any type of government-issued currency, such as 

the United States dollar, that is used as legal tender by a specific nation, 
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government, or region's citizens. Fiat currency is not backed by a physical 

commodity, but instead by the government that issued it. 

12. "Cryptocurrencies," such as Bitcoin and USD Coin ("USDC"), are 

electronically sourced units of value that exist on the internet. USDC is a U.S. 

dollar-pegged cryptocurrency designed to maintain a value of one U.S. dollar 

per token. Cryptocurrencies are generated and tracked through computer 

software in a peer-to-peer network, rather than issued from a government or 

other entity. Users of cryptocurrencies send units of value to and from 

"addresses," which are unique strings of numbers and letters that function like a 

public account number. Cryptocurrency transactions are recorded on a publicly 

available, distributed ledger, often referred to as a "blockchain." 

13. A "blockchain" is a distributed database maintained across a 

network of computers. Each transaction is grouped into a "block," which is then 

cryptographically linked to the previous block, forming a chronological and 

tamper-resistant chain. Once a transaction is recorded on the blockchain, it 

cannot be altered or deleted without detection. 

14. Cryptocurrency ownership is controlled by cryptographic keys. A 

"public address" functions similarly to a bank account number and is used to 

receive cryptocurrency. A corresponding "private key" is required to authorize 

transactions and transfer cryptocurrency from one address to another. 

Possession of the private key allows the holder to control and move the 
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cryptocurrency. Private keys may be stored in various forms, including software 

applications, hardware devices, written records, or cloud-based storage. 

15. Cryptocurrency may be stored in digital "wallets," which can exist 

as applications on computers or mobile devices, online accounts hosted by 

cryptocurrency exchanges, or specialized physical devices known as hard 

wallets. 

16. A "cryptocurrency exchange," such as Coinbase, is a type of digital 

currency exchange where cryptocurrency can be bought, sold, and traded for fiat 

currency or other digital assets. 

17. Coinbase is a United States-based cryptocurrency exchange and 

• financial technology company that operates an online platform through which 

individuals and entities can buy, sell, transfer, store, and manage digital assets, 

including cryptocurrencies such as Bitcoin and USDC. Coinbase provides 

hosted digital wallets, brokerage services, and trading functionality that allow 

users to convert fiat currency into cryptocurrency and vice versa. Coinbase 

accounts are typically associated with verified user identities and may be linked 

to bank accounts, debit cards, or other payment methods to facilitate deposits 

and withdrawals. The platform maintains records of account activity, including 

transactions, transfers, and balances. 

18. A "decentralized exchange" is a peer-to-peer marketplace that 

connects cryptocurrency buyers and sellers. In contrast to centralized exchanges, 

such as Coinbase, decentralized platforms are non-custodial, meaning a user 
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remains in control of their private keys when transacting on a decentralized 

exchange. In the absence of a central authority, decentralized exchanges employ 

smart contracts that self-execute under set conditions and record each 

transaction to the blockchain. 

19. A "smart contract" is a digital agreement stored and executed on a 

blockchain network. Smart contracts are programmed to perform specific 

actions once predefined conditions trigger them. 

20. A "liquidity pool" is a crowdsourced pool of coins or tokens that 

are locked in a smart contract and used to facilitate trades between those assets 

on a decentralized exchange. Liquidity pools enable users to buy and sell 

cryptocurrency on decentralized exchanges or "DeFi" platforms, such as 

U niswap, without the need for centralized exchange. 

21. Liquidity pools are typically funded by individuals who deposit 

pairs of cryptocurrency tokens into the pool. Depositors typically receive a 

portion of transaction fees or other incentives generated by trading activity 

within the pool. Trades conducted through liquidity pools are executed 

automatically by smart contracts. These formulas adjust the price of assets in the 

pool based on supply and demand. As trade occurs, the balances of the pooled 

assets change, and the value of a depositor's share of the pool may increase or 

decrease accordingly. 

22. GOLIATH VENTURES ("GOLIATH"), formerly known as Gen-

z Venture Firm, was established in Florida in February 2019. DELGADO 
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served as the President and a Director of Gen-Z Venture Firm. In September 

2021, Gen-Z Venture Firm changed its name to GOLIATH. DELGADO served 

as the President and Chief Executive Officer of GOLIATH. 

23. According to information provided to potential investors, including 

marketing materials and GOLIATH's website, GOLIATH is "a joint venture 

private fund that invested in blockchain and cryptocurrency projects." 

GOLIATH further characterized itself as "a pioneering firm specializing in 

blockchain development and decentralized finance strategies" and purported to 

leverage "liquidity pools to facilitate passive income generation, enhance market 

efficiency, and provide qualified investors with access to innovative financial 

opportunities." 

PROBABLE CAUSE 

24. This affidavit first describes the information provided to potential 

investors to solicit their funds, then describes the promises that GOLIATH, 

through DELGADO, made in contracts, and then describes how money moved 

through GOLIA TH's bank accounts and cryptocurrency wallet. The affidavit 

goes on to explain how GOLIATH and DELGADO's use of investors' money 

differed from what was promised through marketing materials and contracts. 

Finally, the affidavit provides examples of two investors' experiences with 

GOLIATH and DELGADO. One investor lost approximately $720,000, despite 

promises from GOLIATH that he would get a guaranteed return and that his 

investment could be returned at any time. The other investor recovered his funds 
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and the promised interest, though he had to communicate directly with 

DELGADO to do so, and DELGADO pushed back against the investor's 

recovery of his money. 

Solicitation of Investor Funds, Contracts, 
and GOLIA TH's Online Portal 

25. From January 2023 through January 2026, investors were told by 

DELGADO and GOLIATH directors through presentations and marketing 

materials that their funds would move from a traditional bank account in the 

name of GOLIATH to Coinbase, then to an "encrypted ledger," and ultimately 

into liquidity pools where returns would be generated. The following is a 

representation of GOLIATH's investment cycle that was presented to investors 

through marketing materials. 
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26. From January 2023 through January 2026, GOLIATH entered 

into "Joint Venture Agreements" with victim investors. These agreements were 

often signed by DELGADO on behalf of GOLIA TH. In these agreements, 

GOLIATH would "partner" with victim investors and purport to enter a joint 

venture that would utilize investor funds to make deposits into liquidity pools. 

The Joint Venture Agreements outlined terms and conditions of the 

investments, including details about how GOLIA TH would invest in liquidity 

pools and the distribution of the return on the investors' investment. The Joint 

Venture Agreements sometimes guaranteed monthly returns ranging from three 

to eight percent or guaranteed the return of an investor's principal. Investors 

were offered the option to withdraw their monthly return or "roll over" monthly 

returns, increasing their account balances. GOLIA TH employed associates, 

known as directors, who were responsible for soliciting investors on behalf of 

GOLIATH. GOLIATH represented to investors that the company would 

generate its revenue by charging fees to investors. 

2 7. Investors were provided with regular account updates through their 

online portals reflecting consistent monthly gains. Investors could access their 

account through an online portal, including a mobile application. 

28. As described further herein, though, the information provided in 

the investment materials, the contracts, and the online portal was false and 

fraudulent as the investors' funds were neither used as promised nor used for 

any investment activity, with the possible exception of the approximately $1.5 
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million deposited in U niswap referenced above, and were instead primarily 

maintained essentially as cash in GOLIA TH's bank accounts and 

cryptocurrency wallets. 

GOLIATH's Bank Accounts and Coinbase Wallets 

29. While in operation, GOLIATH held business bank accounts at JP 

Morgan Chase and Bank of America. IRS-CI Investigative Analyst Noel 

Martinez reviewed records from GOLIATH's JP Morgan Chase business 

account ending in 0305 (hereinafter "the JPMC 0305 account") and 

GOLIATH's Bank of America business account ending in 9136 (hereinafter 

"the BOA 9136 account") for the period from January 2023 through September 

2025. 

30. DELGADO was the sole signatory on the JPMC 0305 account in 

the name of GOLIATH. DELGADO controlled the account.3 GOLIATH 

directors told at least one investor that DELGADO determined how investor 

funds would be allocated and directed transfers from GOLIATH accounts. In 

addition, bank records establish that DELGADO used funds from this account 

for several personal expenditures, including a wire transfer of $358,890.46, on or 

about August 5, 2024, towards the purchase of real property in Sanford, Florida 

32771, in August 2024, which is titled in his name. The fact that DELGADO 

3 Based on my training and experience, executive officers of large cotporations usually 
delegate authority to associates to make certain transfers, including expenses for nominal 
amounts, from business bank accounts. Based on my training and experience, I would 
expect the signatory on a bank account to maintain oversight of the account. 
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used the account to fund his personal expenses supports my belief that he had 

ultimate control of the account. 

31. DELGADO was a co-signor on the BOA 9136 account in the 

name of GOLIATH. While other individuals may have had access to the 

account, GOLIATH directors told at least one investor that DELGADO 

controlled the account and that he determined how investor funds would be 

allocated and directed transfers from the account. In addition, DELGADO used 

funds from the account for several personal expenditures, including a wire 

transfer of $500,000, on or about July 30, 2025, towards real property in 

Windermere, Florida, in September 2025, which is titled in his name. As with 

the JP Morgan Chase account, DELGADO's use of the Bank of America 

account to fund his personal expenses supports my belief that he had ultimate 

control of the account. 

32. DELGADO was the sole signatory on GOLIATH's Coinbase 

wallets. GOLIATH directors told at least one investor that DELGADO 

determined how investor funds were allocated and directed transfers from this 

wallet. 

33. Funds sent to GOLIA TH from investors were primarily deposited 

into the JPMC 0305 account or the BOA 9136 account or transferred directly to 

GOLIA TH's wallets at Coinbase. For example: 

a. From January 2023 through June 2025, approximately $253 million 

was deposited into the JPMC 0305 account. 
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b. From May 2025 through September 2025, approximately $75 million 

was deposited into the BOA 9136 account. 

c. From January 2023 through January 2026, approximately $62 million 

was received by GOLIATH's wallets at Coinbase. 

34. From January 2023 to September 2025, approximately $165 

million was sent to GOLIATH's Coinbase wallets from the JPMC 0305 account 

and the BOA 9136 account. 

a. From January 2023 through June 2025, approximately $123 million 

from the JPMC 0305 account to GOLIATH's wallets at Coinbase. 

b. From May 2025 through September 2025, approximately $42 million 

from the BOA 9136 account to GOLIATH's wallets at Coinbase. 

Fraud 

35. DELGADO, individually and through authorized representatives, 

made the following false and fraudulent representations to victim investors to 

induce them to give money to GOLIATH purportedly for deposits into 

cryptocurrency liquidity pools: 

a. GOLIA TH's marketing materials represented to investors that their 

funds would be deployed into a structured and actively managed DeFi 

liquidity pool strategy, primarily focused on USDC pairing on 

U niswap. The materials described sophisticated risk management 

tools-including stop-loss mechanisms, slippage monitoring, and 

centralized exchange hedging-and portrayed the strategy as a 
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disciplined, yield-generating liquidity pool program designed to benefit 

accredited investors. These representations were materially false and 

misleading because, despite raising approximately hundreds of millions 

of dollars from investors, GOLIATH deployed only about $1 million 

into any liquidity pool. The overwhelming majority of investor funds 

were not used in the liquidity pool strategy described in marketing 

materials, directly contradicting the core representations that investor 

capital would be allocated to and managed within such DeFi liquidity 

pools. 

b. The Joint Venture Agreement ("Agreement"), which GOLIATH 

commonly presented to investors, falsely represented to the victim 

investors that their funds would be invested into cryptocurrency 

liquidity pools. The Agreement falsely assured the investors that the 

liquidity pools would run on one or more exchanges (such as Uniswap). 

c. The Agreement falsely represented to the investors that any profits 

generated from a Venture would be distributed on a monthly basis and 

that the investor had the option of selecting either a monthly payout or 

a monthly rollover wherein the profits would be reinvested. 

d. The Agreement falsely represented to the investors that an investment 

in a Venture would generate a monthly return on investment of three to 

eight percent. Returns were sometimes described as guaranteed, and 

some investors were told that their principal was guaranteed. 
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e. The Agreement falsely told investors that they could remove their 

money at any time. 

f. DELGADO often signed these contracts on behalf of GOLIATH. 

g. GOLIATH provided investors with access to an online account portal 

that purported to display real-time account activity, including invested 

principal and returns earned. While the amounts of principal invested 

were accurately _reflected, the reported returns were materially false and 

misleading. In reality, little to no investor funds were deployed into the 

investment strategy described, and the "returns" displayed in the portal 

were not generated from actual trading or liquidity pool activity. 

Instead, the returns were artificially calculated and manipulated to 

match the rate of return offered to each investor, creating the false 

appearance oflegitimate investment performance. 

36. Based on analysis of bank records and blockchain for the period 

January 2023 through January 2026, GOLIATH invested little, if any, investor 

funds in cryptocurrency investments. Instead, GOLIATH used investor funds to 

pay phony returns to earlier investors. Despite false representations to investors, 

only a nominal amount of investor funds were transferred to liquidity pools. 

Instead, investor funds were either held in traditional bank accounts or, if they 

converted to cryptocurrency, were held as USDC, a cryptocurrency "stablecoin" 

which is pegged to the United States dollar. 
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37. At the request of IRS-CI, Chainalysis Government Solutions, LLC 

("CGS") 4 analyzed the flow of cryptocurrency related to GOLIATH's known 

cryptocurrency wallets, including relevant documents from Coinbase exchange 

and investors, through a blockchain analysis. CGS analysis confirmed that 

investor funds were moved between traditional accounts or converted to USDC, 

but they were not deposited into liquidity pools, with the possible exception of 

the approximately $1.5 million deposited in Uniswap referenced above, or used 

for other investment activity. The funds from GOLIATH's cryptocurrency 

wallets were transferred to wallets held by representatives of GOLIA TH and to 

wallets held by investors. 

38. For example, from January 2023 through June 2025, 

approximately $50 million from the JPMC 0305 account was sent to investors 

purportedly as returns on invespnents. Although GOLIATH falsely represented 

that these payments were returns on investments, they primarily were funded 

with money held in the JPMC 0305 account that investors sent to GOLIATH 

for investing purposes. They were not returns from any investment activity. 

39. From May 2025 through September 2025, approximately $11 

million from the BOA 9136 account was sent to investors purportedly as returns 

on investments. These funds primarily originated from funds held in the BOA 

4 CGS provides blockchain analysis and investigation software (Reactor) to government 
agencies. Reactor allows investigators to trace and visualize, across multiple blockchains, 
transactions linked to criminal activity. 
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9136 account that investors sent to GOLIATH for investing purposes and were 

not returns from any investment activity. 

40. Funds from investors were also used to pay for GOLIATH's 

corporate spending, including payments for corporate credit cards, extravagant 

business gatherings, Christmas parties, and luxury travel accommodations. 

41. Investors' balances and returns reflected in the GOLIATH 

accounts, as provided to investors through GOLIATH's online portal, were 

fictitious and not tied to actual investment of their money in a liquidity pool. 

Instead, balances were artificially manipulated to reflect promised returns, 

creating a false appearance of consistent profitability. For example, account 

overviews for GOLIATH investors reflected "Monthly Distribution Rates" and 

"Monthly Distribution Balances" that purported to reflect returns on 

investment. In reality, ·there were no such returns. An example of a GOLIATH 

account overview is pictured below; it demonstrates that the information 

provided to investors was simplistic and did not show any investment- or 

liquidity-pool-specific particulars. 
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Current Account Balance $122,892.84 

Monthly Distribution Balance $6,144.64 

Total Contributions $0.00 

Monthly Distribution Rate 5.00% 

Exec Partner 

User ID 

Money Laundering 

42. Coinbase accepts both ACH payments and Fedwire transfers in the 

United States. Coinbase partners with Plaid as a third-party intermediary to link 

external bank accounts for ACH transfers ·and partners with Cross River Bank to 

support Fedwire transfers of fiat currency to and from Coinbase. 

43. Cross River Bank is headquartered in Fort Lee, New Jersey. 

Coinbase customers are provided with a routing and account number which 

Cross River Bank processes on their behalf to apply funds to Coinbase account. 

44. GOLIATH's Coinbase account was linked to the JPMC 0305 

account and capable of conducting both ACH (Automated Clearing House)5 

5 The ACH network is a nationwide electronic fund transfer system operated through the 
Federal Reserve and national clearing centers. It connects most U.S. banks and credit 
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and Fedwire6 transactions. From October 2022 to February 2025, all deposits of 

fiat currency into GOLIA TH wallets were Fed wire deposits. Based on my 

training and experience, both ACH transactions and Fedwire transactions 

involve interstate wires. 

45. Analysis of bank records showed that GOLIA TH electronically 

transferred funds to Coinbase from the JPMC 0305 account. Specifically, on or 

about February 1, 2024, DELGADO, did knowingly engage in a monetary 

transaction by through or to a financial institution, affecting interstate 

commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, that is 

the transfer of $300,000 of U.S. currency, such property having been derived 

from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud. This transfer included 

$40,000 that Investor 1 had given to GOLIA TH on February 1, 2024, with the 

understanding that it would be used in a liquidity pool, as will be described in 

more detail below. The transfer also included the money of other investors given 

with a similar understanding. 

46. Prior to the $300,000 transfer to Coinbase on February 1, 2024, the 

JPMC 0305 account had a $10.5 million balance. Because this account was 

funded almost exclusively with investor funds, there is probable cause to believe 

unions, enabling the electronic, batch-processed debits and credits between financial 
institutions across state lanes. 

6 Fedwire is an electronic funds-transfer system operated by the 12 Federal Reserve Banks. It 
acts as a national, high-speed network that settles large-value, real-time payments across 
state lines, connecting financial institutions throughout the country. 
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that the entire balance in the account on February 1, 2024 constituted proceeds 

of the wire fraud. Further review of account records revealed that approximately 

$956,990 of investor funds were deposited via wire transfers between January 

31, 2024, and February 1, 2024, and no withdrawals were made prior to the 

$300,000 transfer. Therefore, using the last-in, first-out ("LIFO") accounting 

principle, the entire $300,000 transfer to Coinbase was funded with wire fraud 

proceeds. 

Investor 1 

47. As part of the investigation into GOLIATH, IRS-CI Special Agent 

Richard Smith interviewed Investor 1, a resident of Seminole County, Florida. 

Investor 1 demonstrates how GOLIA TH solicited investors and made false 

promises to them about how their money would be used; ultimately, Investor I 

lost approximately $720,000. 

48. Investor I told SA Smith that he was introduced to GOLIATH 

through an acquaintance, who stated to Investor I that he had invested 

approximately $1,000,000 with GOLIATH and was receiving consistent 

monthly returns. The acquaintance introduced Investor 1 to a representative of 

GOLIA TH. During an in-person meeting in Seminole County, Florida, the 

GOLIATH representative and the acquaintance presented to Investor I an 

investment opportunity described as participation in cryptocurrency liquidity 

pools with guaranteed monthly returns of seven percent. 
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49. Investor 1 was instructed to establish a Coinbase account to receive 

payouts. In March 2023, he initially invested $10,000 and received a first-month 

payout of approximately $700, representing a seven percent monthly return. The 

initial payment and subsequent payments were timely and consistent, which 

reinforced Investor 1 's belief that the investment was legitimate and low risk. 

50. GOLIATH's agreement with Investor 1 was memorialized in a 

"Joint Venture Agreement" on June 23, 2023. DELGADO signed the 

agreement on behalf on GOLIATH. The agreement falsely represented that the 

funds would be invested in liquidity pools: 

3. JOINT VENTURE 

3.1. In executing this Agreement, the Parties have agreed to enter a joint venture for the purpose of 
carrying out the particular project of utilizing their cryptocurrencies by making Contributions into 
liquidity pools which shall run on one or more exchanges (such as Uniswap) and shall involve the 
pairing of a combination of cryptocurrencies to exchanges wherein, in lieu of interest, an exchange 
pays exchange fees for the use of the pairing to create liquidity. Each liquidity pool that the Parties 
collectively decide to contribute to shall be considered a "Venture". 

51. The agreement also set forth the so-called "Distribution of Profits" 

and guaranteed a return of seven percent monthly: 

6. DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS 

6.1. From any profits that are made, the distribution of profits will be as follows: 

6.1.1. The Partner shall be entitled to monthly profits generated by its Contributions, c·Profit(s)"): 

6.1.1.1. For Ethereum, Bitcoin, and USDC: profit margins will deliver 7% monthly. paid in 
usoc. 

52. In December 2023, Investor 1 attended a GOLIATH-hosted 

investor event at the Four Seasons Resort in Orlando, Florida. Investor 1 

described the event as extravagant and professionally organized, with numerous 
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attendees, which further reinforced his belief that GOLIATH was a legitimate, 

well-capitalized enterprise. 

53. In May 2024, Investor 1 became involved with a charitable 

organization and learned that GOLIATH was a major sponsor. Through this 

involvement, Investor 1 met DELGADO, whose public association with 

charities and community events further induced Investor 1 to trust the 

legitimacy of GOLIATH. 

54. Based on the representations about the cryptocurrency liquidity 

pool investment made by the GOLIA TH representative and the acquaintance 

and the consistency of the early payouts, Investor 1 continued investing 

additional funds and reinvesting purported returns. Between mid-2023 and late 

2024, Investor 1 invested approximately $720,000. Of this amount, 

approximately $420,000 was transmitted via domestic wire transfers from 

Investor 1 's personal bank account, and approximately $300,000 was 

transmitted via cryptocurrency transfers from Investor l's Coinbase account to 

wallet addresses provided by GOLIA TH. Specifically, on or about the following 

dates, DELGADO, for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme and 

artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of materially 

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, did knowingly, 

and with intent to defraud, cause Investor 1 to transmit by means of wire in 

interstate commerce, the following funds: 

a. $40,000 on February 1, 2024; 
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b. $110,000 on March 26, 2025. 

55. In late 2025, GOLIATH began delaying payments to the victim 

investors and attributed the delays to audits, banking issues, and compliance 

matters. Despite repeated assurances made by GOLIATH that payments would 

resume, the explanations changed over time, and no supporting documentation 

was provided. Investor 1 was advised that payments would resume on or about 

December 18, 2025, however, no additional payments were ever made. 

56. In early January 2026, Investor 1 requested an exit from the "Joint 

Venture" with GOLIATH and requested a return of $862,000 in principal and 

accrued returns. On January 9, 2026, GOLIATH represented that his funds 

would be returned: 

This lhreod 1s correct. We hove your exu pending s1gnnture mid between our pending pny (October and 
November) we have n total or $862.800 going back to you. 

Sd2,000 for October 
S50.400 for November 
S720.000 exit for December and the earned d1stnbution or $50.400. 

Best , 

GOLIATH 
VENTURES 

goliathventuresinc.com 
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57. After Investor 1 contacted his bank to request wire reversals 7 and 

filed a police report with the Seminole County Sheriff's Office, GOLIA TH was 

contacted by Bank of America regarding the reversal. Shortly thereafter, 

Investor 1 received a hostile text message from the GOLIA TH representative, 

stating, "What are you doing man? You recalled funds from Bank of America 

from May?", demonstrating awareness of the bank inquiry and an attempt to 

challenge Investor l's efforts to recover his funds. Investor 1 's attempts to 

recover the funds have been unsuccessful. 

58. At the time of the interview with law enforcement on January 22, 

2026, Investor I stated that GOLIATH had stopped responding to his 

communications and blocked his access to the GOLIATH investor application. 

To date, GOLIATH has not returned funds to Investor 1, and he has lost 

approximately $720,000. 

Investor 2 

59. As part of the investigation into GOLIATH, IRS-CI SA Richard 

Smith interviewed Investor 2, a resident of Orange County, Florida. Investor 2 

demonstrates the nature of GOLIA TH as a Ponzi scheme because he received 

his money back, plus the returns he was promised, despite GOLIA TH not using 

~is money as promised. Further, Investor 2's experience shows DELGADO's 

7 A wire reversal is a process where the bank that receives a wire transfer returns the funds to 
the sender's bank. This usually occurs when the receiving bank does no_t accept the incoming 
funds. Typically, wires cannot be reversed after the receiving bank has accepted the 
incoming funds. 
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personal involvement with GOLIATH investors, including pressuring Investor 2 

to leave his funds with GOLIATH. 

60. Investor 2 was referred to GOLIATH by a representative of 

GOLIATH, who told Investor 2 about the representative's own investment with 

GOLIATH and about how the monthly returns he received were very good. The 

representative also stated that Investor 2 could request his principal investment 

back from GOLIATH at any time. 

61. Prior to investing in GOLIATH, in July 2024, Investor 2 met with 

the GOLIATH representative and DELGADO at a restaurant located in 

Orlando, Florida. During the dinner, DELGADO told Investor 2 about the 

investment opportunity with GOLIATH. The investment purportedly utilized 

liquidity pools and involved money markets and the buying and selling of stock 

pertaining to cryptocurrency. 

62. In August 2024, Investor 2 invested $1 million with GOLIATH. 

The monthly rate of return was five percent, per Investor 2's contract. 

63. In November 2024, Investor 2 spoke to the GOLIATH 

representative and DELGADO about opportunities involving cryptocurrency. 

Investor 2 invested an additional $15 million with GOLIATH in December 

2024. The terms of the contract regarding Investor 2's additional investment 

stated there would be a seven percent monthly return for six months and then a 

seven and a half percent monthly return for the next six months. 
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64. In December 2024, Investor 2 attended a Christmas party hosted 

by GOLIATH. During the party, DELGADO made an announcement to the 

attendees that GOLIA TH had secured insurance and a fidelity investment bond 

that would cover the principal investments made by investors. 

65. After DELGADO made the announcement about the insurance 

and the fidelity bond at the 2024 Christmas party, Investor 2 asked to view 

documentation pertaining to the insurance and the bond. DELGADO declined 

Investor 2's request for the documentation because of potential disclosure of 

personal information. DELGADO's refusal caused Investor 2 to become uneasy 

about his investment with GOLIATH. After DELGADO declined Investor 2's 

request to view the documentation, Investor 2 requested the return of his 

principal investment. 

66. After Investor 2 requested his principal investment back from 

GOLIATH, DELGADO sent Investor 2 an email detailing that DELGADO 

was not pleased with Investor 2's request for the return of his principal 

investment. On January 24, 2025, DELGADO emailed Investor 2 stating: 

I received your request for a full return of your partnership funds with 
GOLIATH. There are two quick points I would like to address before 
proceeding. 

# 1 - Per our agreement, the percentage honored on GOLIA TH'S part 
was solely based on maintaining an account over $1 OM USD 
( addendum attached) 

#2 - Per our conversation, I only allowed such increase in percentage 
because of the time frame in which you had agreed to have in 
GOLIATH. 
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From the viewpoint of the company, you are taking advantage of the 
opportunity we have allowed you to be a part of. Secondly, you are not 
honoring our conversation nor our agreement. At the end of the day, 
you are completely entitled to your funds, but you are NOT entitled to 
engage and re-engage with GOLIA TH at your discretion. That is 
completely up to the company. 

We will start to reconvert your funds on Monday back to USD from 
USDC per your request BUT you will forfeit the January distribution 
since our agreement and our personal conversation was broken. 
Secondly, if you wish to re-engage with GOLIATH, it will be at the 
SOLE discretion of me and will be at a rate of 1 % per month with zero 
increase based on account value. 

I will give you til Sunday to decide if you should liquidate your whole 
account and if I do not hear from you, we will terminate your 
agreement and start to wire back your funds next week. 

67. In February 2025, GOLIATH sent Investor 2 a total of 

approximately $7.1 million; it sent an additional $10.6 million in March 2025. 

These funds represented the return of Investor 2's principal investment and 

returns on investment from the company. 
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CONCLUSION 

68. Based on the foregoing, I submit that probable cause exists that 

DELGADO did knowingly and willfully engage in wire fraud and money 

laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 18 U.S.C. § 1957. 

Special Agent 
Internal Revenue Service 

Affidavit submitted electronically and attested to me 
as true and accurate by videoconference consistent 
with Fed. R. Cri}.11_:J'. 4.1 and 4l(d)(3) 
before me this _W_~ ay of Februaiy, 2026. 

United States Magistrate Judge 
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